S258966

In the
Supreme Court
of the
State of California

GUSTAVO NARANJO,
on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff, Respondent and Cross-Appellant,

v.

SPECTRUM SECURITY SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant, Appellant and Cross-Respondent.

REVIEW OF A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT COURT · CASE NO. B256232
SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · HON. BARBARA M. SCHEPER · NO. BC372146

PETITION FOR REVIEW

HOWARD Z. ROSEN, ESQ. (54442)
*JASON C. MARSILI, ESQ. (233980)
BRIANNA PRIMOZIC RAPP, ESQ. (274397)
ROSEN MARSILI RAPP LLP
3600 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1800
Los Angeles, California 90010
(213) 389-6050 Telephone
(213) 389-0663 Facsimile

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does violation of Labor Code section 226.7, which requires payment of premium wages for meal and rest period violations, give rise to claims under Labor Code sections 203 and 226 when the employer does not pay the premium wages at any time or include the premium wages in the employee's wage statements?
2. What is the applicable prejudgment interest rate for unpaid premium wages owed pursuant to Labor Code section 226.7?

INTRODUCTION

This case presents an opportunity to address issues left unanswered in *Stewart v. San Luis Ambulance*, S246255 (dismissal filed Sept. 18, 2019), which apply to situations far more common than the unique circumstances facing ambulance attendants working twenty-four hour shifts. The third certified question in *Stewart*—concerning the legal availability of claims under Labor Code sections 203 and 226 for associated violations of Labor Code section 226.7—remains an important question of law affecting all employees in California who are subject to the protections of the Labor Code and denied prompt and proper payment of premium wages for meal and rest period violations.

As acknowledged previously by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in *Stewart*, lower courts have struggled to interpret the term “wages” when assessing premium payments under Labor Code section 226.7. The issue concerns the treatment of premium wages owed pursuant to Labor Code section 226.7, and whether employers must treat premium wages in the same manner as all other “wages” with respect to Labor Code sections 203 and 226.

The Decision of the Court of Appeal holds that neither Labor Code section 203 nor Labor Code section 226 applies to premium wages under Labor Code section 226.7. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal suggests that premium pay under Labor Code section 226.7 is wages in name alone and not accorded the status of actual wages under California law. Based on the same rationale, the appellate court reversed the award of ten percent prejudgment interest and remanded for recalculation at seven percent.

The appellate court's advancement of this principle—that premium pay under Labor Code section 226.7 is not wages for any purpose other than the statute of limitations—abrogates many well-reasoned decisions of this Court. If allowed to stand, California employers need not record the payment of premium wages, provide that information to employees in an itemized wage statement, or pay those premium wages to employees when they resign or are terminated.

As a wage and hour class action that proceeded through trial to directed verdict, the case presents a unique posture for this Court's consideration. Unlike the circumstances in *Stewart*, the case presents no other open questions of fact or law. The award of premium wages pursuant to Labor Code section 226.7 was adjudged and affirmed. All that remains is this Court's review regarding the legal availability of claims under Labor Code sections 203 and 226, when the unpaid or unrecorded "wages" are for premium pay under Labor Code section 226.7, and applicable interest rate—a procedural posture that will not be replicated for years to come.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent Spectrum Security Services, Inc. (hereinafter “Spectrum”) is a federal contractor that provides short-term custodial services to federal agencies. (2 JA 0185-0186, 0244.) Spectrum employs hundreds of security officers (“officers”) to maintain custody of federal prisoners or detainees who require medical attention or treatment. (4 JA 0753, 0775.) The officers’ sole responsibility is to maintain custody of the prisoner while he or she is outside the control of the contracting federal agency. (2 JA 0207-0208, 0244.) Since June 2004, Spectrum has provided these services throughout Southern California at hospitals, hotels, clinics, or other treatment centers. (2 JA 0211, 0243, 0306; 13 JA 2967-2969.)

Representative Plaintiff, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant Gustavo Naranjo (hereinafter “Naranjo”) began working for Spectrum as an officer in December 2006. During Naranjo’s employment, Spectrum’s policies expressly prohibited officers from taking meal periods and rest breaks. As stated by Spectrum: “This job does not allow for breaks other than using the hallway bathrooms for [a] few minutes.” (2 JA 0221-0223, 0254-0256.) As a result, Spectrum did not provide officers with 30-minute off-duty meal periods or 10-minute duty-free rest breaks. (8 JA 1756; 8 RT 3307, 3652-3653.) Officers were required to remain in the prisoners’ presence and maintain constant observation. (2 JA 202-203.) Consistent with this policy, Spectrum terminated Naranjo in May 2007 because he left his post to take a meal period. (3 JA 419-420.)

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On June 4, 2007, Naranjo filed a class action on behalf of himself and other officers similarly situated, alleging causes of action for: (1) meal

period violations; (2) rest period violations; (3) violation of Labor Code section 203; (4) violation of Labor Code section 226; (5) unfair business practices; (6) conversion; and (7) injunctive relief. (1 JA 1-11.) After the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Spectrum, concluding that the causes of action were preempted by the McNamara-O'Hare Service Contract Act (41 U.S.C § 351 et seq.), the Court of Appeal reversed with respect to Naranjo's claims under Labor Code sections 203, 226, and 226.7 and remanded the case to the trial court for further proceedings. (*Naranjo v. Spectrum Sec. Services, Inc.* (2009) 172 Cal. App. 4th 654. (*Naranjo I.*))

On February 3, 2011, the trial court certified a class of current and former officers employed by Spectrum in California during the period of June 4, 2004 to the then-present for adjudication of Naranjo's claims for meal period violations under Labor Code section 226.7, waiting time penalties under Labor Code section 203, and inaccurate itemized wage statements in violation of Labor Code section 226.¹ (4 JA 0800-0804; 9 JA 1979.) The case proceeded to trial in three phases from January to August 2013.

In the first phase, the trial court heard evidence regarding various federal defenses asserted by Spectrum. After five days of trial, the trial court determined that Spectrum's asserted defenses were unsupported by the facts or the law and found in favor of Naranjo and the class. (9 JA 1981-1985.)

The trial court empaneled a jury for the second phase to determine the merits of the class meal period claim. The jury trial commenced on May 28, 2013 and concluded on June 6, 2013. The trial court directed a

¹ Unless otherwise stated, all subsequent unlabeled statutory references are to the Labor Code.

verdict in favor of the class for the period of June 4, 2004 through September 30, 2007, and awarded damages pursuant to section 226.7 in the amount of \$1,393,314, plus pre-judgement interest at a rate of ten percent in the amount of \$955,377. (9 JA 1985-1987.)

In the third phase, the trial court heard evidence and argument regarding the class's entitlement to penalties under sections 203 and 226 for meal period violations during the period of June 4, 2004 to September 30, 2007. At the conclusion of the third phase, the trial court found that penalties under sections 203 and 226 were legally available in cases based on a violation of section 226.7. (9 JA 1988.)

With respect to section 226, the court found in favor of the class, noting that Spectrum's failure to include the additional hour of pay required under section 226.7 in its employees' wage statements was knowing and intentional and not inadvertent. (9 JA 1989.) As to section 203 waiting time penalties, the court found in favor of Spectrum, determining that its defenses were presented in good faith thereby preventing a finding of willfulness. (9 JA 1990.) Based on these findings, the court awarded \$399,950 in penalties and \$731,586.60 in attorneys' fees pursuant to section 226, subdivision (e). (9 JA 1190; 11 JA 2548.) Judgment was entered on January 31, 2014. (11 JA 2550-2554.)

II. APPELLATE PROCEEDINGS

Both Spectrum and Naranjo appealed from the judgment. Spectrum challenged its liability for meal period violations under section 226.7, the award of prejudgment interest, and the award of itemized wage statement penalties and attorneys' fees under section 226, subdivision (e). Naranjo and the class cross-appealed, challenging the trial court's denial of section 203 waiting time penalties, the apportionment of attorneys' fees awarded,

and the intermediate order denying certification of the rest period claim. (Slip Op. at p. 9.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the portion of the judgment finding Spectrum liable for meal period violations and awarding damages under section 226.7. (Slip Op. at p. 21.) The court reversed the award of prejudgment interest of ten percent and remanded with instructions to recalculate and award interest at seven percent. (Slip Op. at p. 42.) The order denying class certification as to the rest break claim was reversed with instructions to certify.² (Slip Op. at pp. 50-51.)

With respect to the applicability of Labor Code sections 203 and 226, the Court of Appeal held “that section 226.7 actions do not entitle employees to pursue the derivative penalties in sections 203 and 226.” (Slip Op. at p. 39.) The Opinion was modified on October 10, 2019, with respect only to language addressing rest period certification. (Ex. B.) The Opinion was certified for publication and became final, as modified, on October 26, 2019.³

///

///

///

² Pursuant to Rule 8.504, subdivision (b), a copy of the Court of Appeal opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit A (referred herein as “Opinion” or “Decision”).

³ Pursuant to Rule 8.504, subdivision (b), a copy of the order modifying the Court of Appeal opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. REVIEW OF THE OPINION IS NECESSARY TO SETTLE IMPORTANT QUESTIONS OF LAW THAT HAVE STATEWIDE RAMIFICATIONS

Despite the clear pronouncement that this Court’s analysis in *Kirby v. Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1244 (*Kirby*) was not at odds with its earlier decision in *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094 (*Murphy*), lower courts—both state and federal—have since struggled to reconcile the two decisions when addressing use of the term “wages” as it relates to actions brought pursuant to section 226.7. At issue here is a question of particular import: whether an employer’s failure to pay premium wages under section 226.7 gives rise to claims under sections 203 and 226.

This question was previously certified for consideration by the United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit in *Stewart v. San Luis Ambulance, Inc.* (2017) 878 F.3d 883 (*Stewart*). Although this Court ultimately dismissed *Stewart v. San Luis Ambulance*, Case No. S246255, because passage of Proposition 11 eliminated the necessity of answering the first two certified questions specific to twenty-four hour ambulance attendants,⁴ the question regarding the availability of claims under sections 203 and 226 for violation of section 226.7 remains an important question of law affecting all employees in California who are protected by the Labor Code. Additionally, in light of the holding in *Kirby*—denying recovery of attorneys’ fees pursuant to section 218.5 (and presumably interest under

⁴ The Ninth Circuit acknowledged that the certified question concerning the applicability of claims under Labor Code sections 203 and 226 for violations of Labor Code section 226.7 was contingent on resolution of the first two certified questions. (*Stewart, supra*, 878 F.3d at p. 886.)

section 218.6 for the same reason)—the related question concerning the applicable prejudgment interest rate on premium wages is equally important.

A. The Ninth Circuit Acknowledged the Importance of Answering These Questions in *Stewart*

In *Stewart*, the Ninth Circuit certified the question to this Court as a result of a perceived incongruity between *Murphy*, which determined that payments made pursuant to Labor Code section 226.7 were premium wages, and *Kirby*, holding that a claim made under Labor Code section 226.7 was not an action for the nonpayment of wages. (*Stewart, supra*, 878 F.3d at p. 887 (citing *Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1114; *Kirby, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 1255-1257).) As a result of these two decisions, the Ninth Circuit noted that federal district courts are divided on the legal availability of claims under Labor Code sections 203 and 226 for attendant violations of Section 226.7. (*Id.* at p. 888.) Identifying inconsistencies in the district courts’ consideration of this question, the Ninth Circuit noted that “[s]everal [courts] have concluded that a meal period violation properly forms the basis for claims under sections 203 and 226—pointing to *Murphy*. [citation] Yet others have rejected such claims—relying on *Kirby*. [citation]” (*Ibid.*)

B. The Court of Appeal Acknowledged that Most Decisions Addressing These Questions Are Not in Accord

Whether section 226.7 violations form the basis for claims under sections 203 and 226 remains an important question of law affecting lower courts. The court in *Maldonado v. Epsilon Plastics, Inc.* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 1308 (*Maldonado*), acknowledged the unresolved question, referencing *Stewart*, but nonetheless addressed a related issue concerning

section 226 as a matter of first impression. (*Id.* at p. 1336 n.15.) The court in *Kaanaana v. Barrett Business Services, Inc.* (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 778 (*Kaanaana*), acknowledged the question as it pertained to section 203, but avoided the question by resolving the matter on other grounds. (*Id.* at p. 810.) The court in *Ling v. P.F. Chang's China Bistro, Inc.* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1242 (*Ling*), acknowledged that the remedy for violation of section 226.7 constitutes a wage, but not a wage as the term is used in section 203. (*Id.* at p. 1261.) Treatment of these issues has been irregular, and lower courts would benefit from guidance on these questions affecting all California employees entitled to the protections of the Labor Code.

C. Review of the Opinion by This Court is Necessary to Ensure Proper Interpretation and Application of the Labor Code for All California Employees

Contrary to the Court of Appeal's suggestion, the appropriate focus of this case is not statutory penalties and attorneys' fees related to derivative claims for violations of section 226.7. (Slip Op. at p. 39.) This case concerns California employers' obligations under the Labor Code to provide employees with accurate itemized wage statements during the course of their employment (Lab. Code § 226), and to pay all wages owed and due upon separation of employment (Lab. Code § 203).

The framework is relatively simple: Employers must pay employees twice a month on designated paydays. (Lab. Code § 204.) At the time of payment, employers must furnish employees with an itemized wage statement setting forth specific information. (Lab. Code § 226.) If an employee is terminated or resigns, an employer must pay the employee all remaining wages owed and due. (Lab. Code §§ 201-203.) These are distinct legal obligations under the Labor Code.

The issue concerns the treatment of premium wages owed pursuant to section 226.7, and whether employers must treat these premium wages in the same manner as all other “wages” with respect to sections 203 and 226. As it is well-settled that employees have an immediate entitlement to premium wages for violation of section 226.7 (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1108), questions arise concerning how employers must handle payment of premium wages when violations of section 226.7 occur. If one follows the framework set forth above, the employer should pay the premium wage in the pay period during which the violation of section 226.7 occurred and record the payment of the premium wage in the employee’s wage statement. If such actions were taken by an employer, no additional wages would be owed to the employee upon separation of employment under sections 201-203. If, however, an employer fails to make immediate payment of a premium wage, but nonetheless pays any owed premium wages at the time an employee resigns or is terminated, again, no additional wages would be owed to the employee upon separation of employment under sections 201-203 (but a violation of section 226 may still exist for the pay period in which the violation of section 226.7 occurred).

Notwithstanding the simplicity of this framework, the Opinion holds that neither section 203 nor section 226 applies to premium wages under section 226.7. (Slip Op. at p. 2.) If allowed to stand, California employers will not be required (or penalized for failing) to timely record the payment of premium wages under section 226.7, provide that information to employees in an itemized wage statement, or pay those premium wages to employees when they resign or are terminated. The Opinion eliminates any practical mechanism by which payment of these wages would ever be made during the course of employment, i.e., through payroll as reflected in an

itemized wage statement. Further, the Opinion authorizes employers to avoid paying such premium wages upon separation of employment. As a result, the Opinion significantly undermines California’s protections of workers’ rights to meal and rest periods and to the payment of premium wages when those breaks are unlawfully denied.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL’S DECISION UNDERMINES THE FUNDAMENTAL TENET OF *MURPHY*, WHICH WAS CONSTRUED TO PROTECT EMPLOYEES

In holding that employees may not pursue claims under sections 203 and 226 for violations of section 226.7, the appellate court starts its discussion with a quip on the famed passage from *Romeo and Juliet* wherein Juliet questions: “What’s in a name?” (Romeo and Juliet, act II, scene 2, line 46.)⁵ Entitling this section of the decision, “A Wage by any Other Name,” the Court of Appeal suggests that premium pay under Labor Code section 226.7 are wages in name alone and not accorded the status of actual wages under California law.⁶ (Slip Op. at p. 21.) As evidenced by its analysis throughout, the appellate court advances this principle—that premium pay under section 226.7 is not wages for any purpose other than the statute of limitations—to the detriment of many well-reasoned decisions of this Court and to the employees whom those decisions are meant to protect.

⁵ The complete passage states: “What’s in a name? That which we call a rose by any other name would smell as sweet.” (Shakespeare, *Romeo and Juliet*, act II, scene 2, lines 46-47.)

⁶ For analysis of this passage in contemporary usage, see Ammer, *The Dictionary of Clichés* (2013) p. 376; see also Farlex, *Dictionary of Idioms* (2015) <https://idioms.thefreedictionary.com/a+rose+by+any+other+name> [as of Nov. 1, 2019].

Payments made pursuant to Labor Code section 226.7 are wages. (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1114.) This fundamental proposition was determined by *Murphy* and reaffirmed in *Kirby*. (*Kirby, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at 1257 [“liability is properly characterized as a wage”].) California appellate courts have relied on *Murphy* numerous times in the ensuing twelve years in developing the State’s wage and hour jurisprudence. (See, e.g., *Safeway, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1138, 1155 [acknowledging employees’ immediate entitlement to premium wages]; *United Parcel Service, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 57, 65-68 [allowing recovery of two hours pay on a single work day for independent meal and rest period violations]; *Lazarin v. Superior Court* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1560, 1582-1584 [discussing retroactivity of section 226.7].) Yet, the Court of Appeal downgrades *Murphy* to a decision concerning merely the statute of limitations applicable to claims under section 226.7.

Notably absent from the appellate court decision is any acknowledgment that section 226.7 payments are, in fact, wages. Every reference to *Murphy* indicates that its holding was solely for statute of limitations purposes. (Slip Op. at pp. 7-8, 24, 26, 27, 37.) Even in referring to the decision of the trial court, which acknowledged the premise that section 226.7 payments are wages, the Court of Appeal identified the trial court’s reliance on *Murphy* “for statute of limitations purposes.” (*Compare* Slip Op. at pp. 7-8 *with* 9 JA 1987.) The appellate court went so far to emphasize this point, adding italics to this phrase. (Slip Op. at p. 26 [“*Murphy’s* conclusion that section 226.7’s remedy is a ‘wage’ *for purposes of determining what statute of limitations applies*”] [internal quotations omitted].)

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