S258966

**SUPREME COURT**  
*of the*  
**STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

GUSTAVO NARANJO,  
on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated  
*Plaintiff, Respondent and Cross-Appellant,*

v.

SPECTRUM SECURITY SERVICES, INC.,  
*Defendant, Appellant and Cross-Respondent*

---

REVIEW OF A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL  
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT COURT – CASE NO. B256232  
SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES – HON. BARBARA M. SCHEPER  
Case No. BC 372146

---

**SPECTRUM SECURITY SERVICES, INC.’S ANSWER TO  
NARANJO’S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

DAVE CAROTHERS (Bar No. 125536)  
STEVEN A. MICHELI (Bar No. 89725)  
**CAROTHERS DiSANTE & FREUDENBERGER LLP**

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

### **III. ARGUMENT**

Review of a Court of Appeal decision is appropriate "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." CRC §8.500(b)(1).) Neither of these circumstances exist here. In addition, the Court of Appeal's reading of the applicable statutes was

correct, so no review is necessary.

**A. There Is No Need to Grant Review to Secure Uniformity of Decision.**

The primary question posed by this Petition is whether Naranjo is entitled to recover statutory penalties under Labor Code Sections 203 and 226 for meal period violations in addition to the one hour of premium pay available in Section 226.7. To date, there have not been any published state court decisions holding that these statutory penalties are available in addition to the premium pay. On the contrary, all state court decisions are consistent and hold, like the Court of Appeal did here, that statutory penalties are not available. See *Ling v. P.F. Chang's China Bistro, Inc.* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1242, 1261; *Maldonado v. Epsilon Plastics, Inc.* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 1308, 1337.

More specifically, in *Ling*, the court found that Section 203 penalties are not available for a Section 226.7 meal period violation. Noting that this Court in *Kirby v Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.* (2012) 53 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1244, 1255 [Kirby] ruled that “a section 226.7 action is sought for the non-provision of meal and rest periods, not for the ‘non-payment of wages,’” the *Ling* Court concluded that “section 226.7 cannot support a section 203 penalty because section 203, subdivision (b), tethers the waiting time penalty to a separate action for wages.” (*Ling*, 245 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1261.) (Discussed in Opinion at 29-30.)

In *Maldonado*, the plaintiffs prevailed on their claim that they were not properly paid overtime because an Alternative Workweek Schedule (AWS) was not adopted in accordance with Labor Code sections 510-511. (*Maldonado*, 22 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> at 1314-1315). Based solely on finding that the plaintiffs were not paid overtime, the trial court also awarded wage statement penalties under section 226(e), and the Court of Appeal reversed this award. (*Id.* at 1334-1337). As the court explained: “The purpose of

section 226 is to *document the paid wages* to ensure the employee is fully informed regarding the calculation of those wages.” (*Id.* at 1337, quoting *Soto v. Motel 6 Operating, L.P.* (2016) 4 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 385, 392; emphasis in original.) When a wage statement accurately describes what the employee was actually *paid*, the wage statement is “accurate,” and there is no violation of section 226 if the wage statement omits amounts that were *owed and not paid*. “That the 10/2 AWS ultimately turned out to be invalid mandates that the employees receive unpaid overtime, interest and attorney’s fees. Labor Code § 1194, subdivision (a).) It does not mandate that they also receive penalties for the wage statements which accurately reflected their compensation under the rates at which they worked at the time.” (*Maldonado* at 1337).

Since Naranjo sued for premium pay that was “owed and not paid,” the rationale in *Maldonado* and *Ling* leads to the conclusions that Naranjo cannot recover Section 226(e)(1) penalties simply because the wage statements failed to list a premium pay that was “owed and not paid,” and Naranjo cannot recover waiting time penalties for non-payment of meal period premiums (as opposed to minimum wage or overtime) on termination of employment.<sup>5</sup>

Consistent with *Maldonado* and *Ling*, the Court of Appeal in this

---

<sup>5</sup> There is no requirement that the employer include in the wage statement all “obligations owed.” For example, an employer may agree with an employee to provide a vehicle for the employee to use as part of his compensation, or to provide vacation pay, but Section 226(a) does not require a wage statement to list the vehicle or the amount of vested vacation. *Soto v. Motel 6 Operating, L.P.* (2016) 4 Cal.App.5<sup>th</sup> 385, 392-393 [vested vacation pay not required on wage statement]. The amount of accrued paid sick leave does not have to be listed on wage statements, and can be on a separate document. Labor Code § 246(h).

case ruled that based on the language of Sections 203 and 226, those statutory penalties are not available for a meal period violation under Section 226.7. As the Court of Appeal stated:

Section 203 penalizes an employer that willfully fails “to pay . . . any wages” owed to a fired or voluntarily separating employee. The penalty is paid to the employee, not for “labor, work, or service . . . performed personally by the [employee]” ([Labor Code] § 200 sub. (b)), but for the employer’s recalcitrance. Read this way, an employer’s failure, however willful, to pay section 226.7 statutory remedies does not trigger section 203’s derivative penalty provisions for untimely wage payments.

The result is the same for section 226. Section 226, subdivision (e)(1) entitles an employee to minimum fixed penalties . . . if the itemized statement omits gross and net “wages earned.” Section 226.7’s premium wage is a statutory remedy for an employer’s conduct, not an amount “earned” for “labor, work, or service . . . performed personally by the [employee].” (§ 200, subd. (b).)

(Opinion 38.)

Thus, the Court of Appeal’s reasoning and conclusions are wholly consistent with the other published state cases on these issues.

As noted in the Court of Appeal’s Opinion, earlier federal district courts differed in their analysis as to whether the Sections 203 and 226(e) statutory penalties are available for a Labor Code Section 226.7 violation, with some coming to the same conclusion as the Court of Appeal in this case. (E.g., *Jones v. Spherion Staffing LLC* (C.D.Cal. 2012) 2012 WL 3264081 at \*8-9; *Singletary v. Teavana Corporation* (N.D.Cal. 2014) 2014 WL 1760884 at \*4.) (Discussed in Opinion at 31-34.) Notably, the federal court decisions cited by the Court of Appeal that came to contrary

conclusions did so in preliminary rulings.<sup>6</sup> In addition, the federal courts were simply attempting to apply California law, and in light of the Court of Appeal's published ruling in this case, coupled with those in *Ling* and *Maldonado*, there is no reason for the federal courts to be in disagreement in the future. (*Vestar Dev. II, LLC v. Gen. Dynamics Corp.* (9th Cir. 2001) 249 F.3d 958, 960 [absent "convincing evidence that the state supreme court would decide differently, a federal court is obligated to follow the decisions of the state's intermediate appellate courts," quoting *Lewis v. Tel. Employees Credit Union* (9th Cir. 1996) 87 F.3d 1537, 1545].)

Since no reported California state case allows Section 203 or 226(e) penalties for the failure to pay premium pay for meal period violations under Section 226.7, there is no decisional conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, and no conflict for this Court to resolve.

Further, as to the Court of Appeal ruling setting the seven percent prejudgment interest rate on the award of premium pay for meal period violations, Naranjo does not present any other case with a conflicting opinion and Spectrum is not aware of any. The only case Naranjo cites in connection with this question is *Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exchange* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1138, which did not involve meal period violations at all.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>6</sup> *Finder v. Leprino Foods Co.* (E.D.Cal. 2015) 2015 WL 1137151 at \*5 [motion for judgment on the pleadings]; *Parson v. Golden State FC, LLC* (N.D.Cal. 2016) 2016 WL 1734010 at \*4-5 [motion to dismiss]; *Abad v. Gen. Nutrition Ctrs, Inc.* (C.D.Cal. 2013) 2013 WL 4038617 at \*7 [denial of summary judgment]; *Pena v. Taylor Farms Pac., Inc.* (E.D.Cal. 2014) 2013 WL 4459852 at \*8-10 [class certification motion]; and *Dawson v. Hitco Carbon Composites, Inc.* (C.D.Cal. 2017) 2017 WL 7806561 at \*6 [motion to dismiss].

<sup>7</sup> Naranjo argues, based on *Bell*, that the 10 percent breach of contract interest rate in Civil Code section 3289 should be applied because the employment relationship is inherently contractual, but ignores the facts that

**B. This Case Does Not Present An Important Question of Law That Needs To Be Settled.**

**1. Review Is Not Necessary to Clarify *Murphy*.**

Naranjo argues that review should be granted to settle the “irregular” decisions from the lower courts on the issue of whether statutory wage statement and waiting time penalties are available in missed meal break cases. As discussed above, the current California cases, including this one, are consistent that Sections 203 and 226(e) penalties are not available in addition to the premium pay for Section 226.7 break violations. So currently there is no conflict to resolve.

Naranjo also argues review should be granted because he believes the Court of Appeal’s Opinion is inconsistent with this Court’s holding in *Murphy* that Section 226.7 meal break premium pay is a “wage” for purposes of the statute of limitations. This argument shows a lack of appreciation of this Court’s analysis in *Murphy*. In *Murphy*, this Court analyzed which statute of limitations applied to a claim for premium pay for missed breaks; the three-year period for a “liability created by statute” or the one-year period for a claim for a “penalty.” (*Murphy*, at 1102-1103, comparing CCP §§338(a) and 340(a).) The Court discussed whether the premium pay was a wage, to which the three-year limitation would apply,

---

(a) the premium pay in Section 226.7 is a creation of statute, not contract, and (b) the premium pay in this case was awarded solely because of the *absence* of a contract; namely, the on-duty meal period agreement. The fact that the *Bell* court approved a ten percent interest rate on an award of unpaid overtime wages does not mean that the ten percent interest rate applies to an award of meal period premium pay. *Bell* did not hold that, nor has any other published state court case.

or a penalty, to which the one-year limitation would apply. (*Id.* at 1103.) The Court reviewed the language of Section 226.7 and concluded that it could be interpreted as either a wage or a penalty. (*Id.* at 1104 ff.) The Court then analyzed legislative history, public policy, and other indicators to help in the interpretation. (*Id.*) The Court concluded that in the context of applying the statute of limitations and based on these sources concerning the interpretation of Section 226.7, the “additional hour of pay” in Section 226.7 is “a premium wage intended to compensate employees, not a penalty.” (*Id.* at 1114.) Significantly, this Court said that the premium pay “compensates the employee for events other than time spent working.” (*Id.* at 1113.)

Later, in *Kirby*, this Court addressed whether attorney’s fees are available under Labor Code section 218.5 (which provides for recovery of fees by a prevailing party in an action for nonpayment of wages) in an action for missed meal or rest breaks brought under Section 226.7. The Court concluded fees were not available, stating:

Section 226.7 is not aimed at protecting or providing employees' wages. Instead, the statute is primarily concerned with ensuring the health and welfare of employees by requiring that employers provide meal and rest periods as mandated by the IWC. [Citations.] When an employee sues for a violation of section 226.7, he or she is suing because an employer has allegedly “require[d] [the] employee to work during [a] meal or rest period mandated by an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission.” (§ 226.7, subd. (a).) In other words, a section 226.7 action is brought for the nonprovision of meal and rest periods, not for the “nonpayment of wages.”

(*Kirby* at 1255.)

Both *Murphy* and *Kirby* focused on the meaning and application of Section 226.7 in the context of the issues presented. Neither of these cases analyzed the language of Labor Code sections 203 or 226 to determine if

their statutory penalties were available in an action under the language of Section 226.7. In contrast, the Court of Appeal in this case did so. The Court of Appeal applied the “clear and unambiguous” language of Sections 200, 203 and 226 and concluded that Sections 203 and 226 were not triggered by the failure to pay premium pay for not providing meal breaks. (Opinion at 38-39.)

The Court of Appeal’s decision is not inconsistent with *Murphy*. Accordingly, review is not necessary to clarify any purported inconsistency.

## **2. Review Is Not Necessary to Incentivize Employers.**

Naranjo asserts that in the absence of review by this Court, the Court of Appeal Opinion will stand, and employers will not be required to pay the premium pay when employees resign. In addition, Naranjo asserts the Opinion “eliminates any practical mechanism by which payment of these wages would ever be made during the course of employment.” (Petition 16.) These assertions are untenable, since Section 226.7 requires the employer to pay premium pay when appropriate and “an employee is entitled to the additional hour of pay immediately upon being forced to miss a rest or meal period.” (*Murphy* at 1108.) The law clearly requires employers to provide meal periods and to pay premium pay if they are not provided; which the Court of Appeal affirmed in affirming the award of premium pay.

There are incentives and mechanisms in place to enforce Section 226.7 in the absence of statutory penalties for unrelated violations. An employee clearly has legal remedies to recover unpaid premium pay, as this case demonstrates. In addition, the state, or an aggrieved employee, can sue under PAGA for civil penalties. (Labor Code §2699.5.)

The dual purposes of the meal break law are to incentivize

employers to provide breaks, and compensate employees when breaks are not provided. (*Murphy* at 1104-105). Those purposes are not thwarted by the Court of Appeal's rulings.

**C. The Procedural Posture of This Case Does Not Support Review.**

Naranjo asserts that this case is a good one for this Court to review because there are “no open questions of fact or law.” This assertion is not accurate, nor is this a proper ground for review in the first instance. If review is granted, the two issues presented will not resolve whether the class in this case will recover any penalties, since penalties under Sections 203 and 226 are not automatic.

Section 203 requires that the failure to pay wages on termination be “willful,” and a “good faith defense” defeats the penalty. (*Smith v. Rae-Venter Law Group*, (2002) 29 Cal.4th 345, 354, n.3; *Road Sprinkler Fitters Local Union No. 669 v. G&G Fire Sprinklers, Inc.*, (2002) 102 Cal. App. 4th 765, 782 [“good faith mistaken belief that wages are not owed may negate a finding of willfulness”]; 8 CCR §13520.) In fact, the trial court denied Section 203 penalties because it found Spectrum was not “willful” and had a good faith defense. Section 226(e) requires a finding that the failure to comply was “knowing and intentional” and that the plaintiff suffered “injury.” Despite the evidence being the same as on the Section 203 inquiry, in awarding Section 226 penalties, the trial court found Spectrum was “knowing and intentional.” (9 JA 1977 at 1989-1990.)

Since both sides appealed the trial court's additional legal and factual determinations on the penalty issues, these issues would revive if this Court accepts review and reverses the Court of Appeal's rulings on the two issues presented in the Petition. Thus, this is not a case where there are no “open questions of fact or law.” A review and reversal would simply result in the continuation of the dispute on the penalties issues.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

This is not an appropriate case for review. There is no split of authority and no unsettled but important issue of law needing this Court's attention. Accordingly, the Petition should be denied.